RECEIVED

Apr 07 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM MARLBORO COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Milton G. Kimpson, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2024-CP-34-00380

Appellate Case No. 2025-001647

Bobby Dean Odom,

Respondent,

v.

Dixie, LLC, Natasha M. Carr, Marlboro County Delinquent Tax Collector, and Edwin Harold
Odom, III, Defendants,

Of whom Dixie, LLC is the Appellant,

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

G. Murrell Smith, Jr., SC Bar No. 66263
Jonathan M. Robinson, SC Bar No. 68285
Shanon N. Peake, SC Bar No. 102723
Benjamin E. Grimsley, SC Bar No. 70335
Ryan J. Patane, SC Bar No. 103116
Smith Robinson Holler DuBose
and Morgan, LLC

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the circuit court err in setting aside the tax sale where the Notice of Levy strictly complied with South Carolina law and did not set an artificial deadline?
2. Did the circuit court err in denying Appellant's motion for summary judgment where the tax sale strictly complied with South Carolina law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS¹

Respondent Bobby Dean Odom ("Respondent") and Defendant Edwin Harold Odom, III² (collectively, "the Defaulting Taxpayers") were the record owners of certain real property in Marlboro County known as 4217 Redbud Road, McColl, South Carolina 29570, bearing TMS Number 030-00-02-049 (the "Property"). (ROA p. 69; Carr Aff. at ¶ 6.) The Property was being taxed in the name of the Defaulting Taxpayers. (*Id.*) On September 9, 2022, Marlboro County mailed the Notice of Levy (the "Notice") to the Defaulting Taxpayers by certified mail, return receipt requested – restricted delivery. (ROA p. 78.) The Notice stated:

Pursuant to Section 12-51-40, 1976 S.C. Code of Laws, this property is seized by person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes of Marlboro County to be sold for delinquent taxes. . . .

Unless said taxes, penalties and costs are paid in full, all property described will be legally advertised and then sold to the highest bidder, on Monday, November 7, 2022. . . .

Taxes must be paid by Cash, Cashier's Check, or Money Order by 5:00 PM, November 4, 2022

(*Id.*) Friday, November 4, 2022 at 5:00 p.m. was the last business day the tax collector's office was open immediately preceding the Monday tax sale. The Defaulting Taxpayers did not pay the taxes. (ROA p. 70). The Property was subsequently sold for delinquent taxes at the Marlboro

¹ Appellant combines the statement of the case and statement of the facts to eliminate repetition due to considerable overlap between the procedural history and the facts in this case.

² Defendant Odom has not appeared in the action and is in default.

County Delinquent Tax Sale on Monday, November 7, 2022 (the “Tax Sale”) to Appellant in the amount of \$10,500.00. (ROA p. 70). A tax deed was issued after the redemption period expired on July 18, 2024, and recorded on August 5, 2024, in the Office of the Clerk of Court for Marlboro County in Book 816 at Page 80 (the “Tax Deed”).

On November 6, 2024, Respondent initiated this action to set aside the Tax Sale. (ROA p. 14.) On February 28, 2024, Appellant filed an answer, counterclaim, and crossclaim seeking to quiet title and confirm the tax sale, or, in the alternative, an action to recover amounts due if the tax sale was set aside. (ROA pp. 19–24, 29–42.) Respondent filed a motion for summary judgment on February 17, 2025, on the sole basis that the Notice set an artificial deadline for payment and therefore the tax sale deed is null and void. (ROA pp. 46–57.) Appellant filed a cross Motion for Summary Judgment on April 2, 2025, and filed a memorandum in support of its motion for summary judgment and in opposition to Respondent’s motion (the “Memo”) on April 11, 2025. (ROA pp. 58–89.) Defendant Natasha M. Carr, Marlboro County Delinquent Tax Collector (“the County”) also filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (ROA pp. 90–91.)

The Honorable Milton G. Kimpson held a hearing on cross-motions for summary judgment on April 21, 2025. (ROA pp. 116–35.) At the hearing, Respondent argued the Notice set an artificial deadline of November 4 “when, in fact, [the Defaulting Taxpayers had] until November 7th to pay.” (ROA pp. 120, 130.) Respondent argued the “proper due by date” was November 7, the day of the tax sale. (ROA p. 124.) Appellant argued the Notice complied with the statute because it properly specified that the taxes must be paid *before* the sale date as stated in section 12-51-40(b) of the South Carolina Code and November 4 was the last business day before the sales date. (ROA pp. 124–25.) The County reiterated that the Notice was proper because it “gave the

delinquent tax payer to the last possible minute to pay on a day prior to a subsequent sales date,” which is what the statute requires. (ROA p. 126.)

The circuit court issued a Form 4 Order on June 2, 2025 denying Appellant’s and the County’s motions and granting Respondent’s motion. (ROA pp. 3–5.) The circuit court issued a formal order on June 16, 2025, setting aside the tax sale. (ROA pp. 6–10.) The circuit court found “November 4, 2022, which is not the tax sale date, is an artificial deadline that does not strictly comply with [section] 12-51-40(b).” (ROA p. 8.) The circuit court held Appellant’s tax sale bid must be refunded in accordance with section 12-51-100 of the South Carolina Code and Respondent and Defendant Odom must pay the County delinquent taxes totaling \$4,646.69. (*Id.*)

Appellant and the County filed timely motions pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (ROA pp. 99–107.) The circuit court did not hold a hearing and, instead, summarily denied the motions on July 18, 2025.³ (ROA p. 11–13.) Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal on August 18, 2025. (ROA pp. 149–52.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“An appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court when reviewing the dismissal of an action.” *Cap. City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc.*, 382 S.C. 92, 99, 674 S.E.2d 524, 528 (Ct. App. 2009). “When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, appellate courts apply the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c)[of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure], which provides that summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” *USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 653, 661 S.E.2d 791, 796 (2008). “When the

³ The Order was signed on July 18, 2025, but was not electronically filed in the case until July 28, 2025. (ROA pp. 11, 146–48.)

parties file cross-motions for summary judgment, the issue becomes a question of law for the [c]ourt to decide de novo.” *S.C. Pub. Int. Found. v. Calhoun Cnty. Council*, 432 S.C. 492, 495, 854 S.E.2d 836, 837 (2021).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in finding there was an artificial deadline in the Notice.

The circuit court erred in setting aside the tax sale because the Notice complied with section 12-51-40(b) and did not set an artificial deadline. The circuit court wrongfully concluded the Notice contained an artificial deadline because it specified a deadline “which is not the tax sale date.” (ROA p. 8.) This holding directly contradicts the statutory language, and this Court should reverse.

Section 12-51-40(b) clearly and unequivocally states the deadline is not and cannot be the tax sale date. Specifically, section 12-51-40(b) states: “All delinquent notices shall specify that if the taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs are not paid *before a subsequent sales date*, the property must be duly advertised and sold for delinquent property taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs.” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-40(b) (emphasis added). Contrary to the circuit court’s order, the deadline provided by the General Assembly in section 12-51-40(b) is not the actual sales date. The deadline must be before that date.

The General Assembly specifically amended the statutory language of section 12-51-40(b) in 1995 to prohibit payment on the date of the tax sale. The prior version of the statute allowed payment to occur “on or before” the sales date. However, the General Assembly removed the language “on or” from the statute in 1995.

The Notice in the instant case is in strict compliance with the statutory language. The Notice states the following regarding a deadline for payment: “unless said taxes, penalties and costs are paid in full, all property described will be legally advertised and then sold to the highest

bidder on Monday, November 7, 2022. [] Taxes must be paid by Cash, Cashier’s Check, or Money Order by 5:00 PM, November 4, 2022.” Thus, the Notice states the subsequent sales date—November 7, 2022—and indicates the payment must occur before that date—November 4, 2022.

The circuit court erred in holding an artificial deadline is any deadline before the tax sale date. The circuit court’s order is directly contradictory to the statute. Because the Notice contained the last date available for payment immediately before the tax sale, it did not create an artificial deadline.

The circuit court relied entirely on *Hawkins v. Bruno Yacht Sales*, 353 S.C. 31, 577 S.E.2d 202 (2003) in incorrectly holding the Notice set an artificial deadline that was not the tax sale date. *Hawkins* addressed a 1995 tax sale that occurred prior to the legislature amended section 12-51-40(b). *Hawkins* is entirely distinguishable from the instant case, and the circuit court failed to recognize the statutory amendment to section 12-51-40(b) after the *Hawkins* case mandates a different result in this case. Although the circuit court noted in a footnote that the language of section 12-51-40(b) had been amended following the 1995 tax sale at issue in *Hawkins*, the circuit court failed to recognize that the amended language renders the instant Notice in compliance with South Carolina law. Specifically, the circuit court noted the change in language was “immaterial to the holding in that case.” *See* Order at n. 2. Respectfully, the issue is not whether the amended statutory language was material to the holding of *Hawkins*, but whether the amended language was material to the instant case. *Hawkins* is entirely distinguishable from this case.

Hawkins does not stand for the proposition that any date specified prior to the tax sale is an artificial deadline. Instead, it stands for the proposition that a date *weeks* before the sale date is artificial because, under the prior version of section 12-51-40(b), the delinquent taxpayer had up to and until the sale date to pay. In *Hawkins*, the Supreme Court noted:

The Court of Appeals held that these two notices created artificial deadlines for payment before the sales date, and thereby contradicted the statutory language requiring that the notice inform the delinquent taxpayer that the taxes must be paid “before a subsequent sales date.” Because the sales date in this instance was October 2, the Court of Appeals found that the August 31 and September 15 deadlines were artificial, and *gave the impression that Hawkins had to pay the taxes weeks before the date of sale*. We agree with the Court of Appeals' holding on this issue.

Hawkins, 353 S.C. at 37–38, 577 S.E.2d at 206 (emphasis added). What makes the date in *Hawkins* artificial is that it was not the date the payment was actually due because, under the prior version of the statute, the General Assembly allowed a defaulting taxpayer to redeem before or on the sales date itself.

As discussed above, in 1996, the General Assembly amended this statute to remove the words “on or”, and the statute now reads: “all delinquent notices shall specify that if the taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs are not paid **before** a subsequent sales date.” (emphasis added, the phrase “on or” deleted by the amendment). The circuit court erred in relying on *Hawkins* and failing to recognize that the change in the statutory language renders the Notice in strict compliance with South Carolina law.

In the instant case, the payment was actually due on November 4, 2022—the date listed in the Notice—because it was the last business day before the date of the tax sale. There is no dispute that the tax sale occurred after the 1996 statutory change. Presently, and contrary to the circuit court’s holding, to comply with the statute, the Notice **cannot** specify that the taxes may be paid “on” the sales date. That option is off the table; specifying a payment deadline “on” the sales date would have been in violation of the present statutory language. Nor is November 4 an artificial deadline because it is not only a date “before a subsequent sales date” but it is the date *directly* before the sales date. Friday, November 4 was the closest possible business day leading up to the Monday, November 7 subsequent sales date—not “weeks before the date of sale” as was the

payment deadline in *Hawkins*. Respondent could not have made the payment on Saturday or Sunday because those days are statutory non-business days.

The circuit court's ruling contravenes the plain language of the statute as well as the intent of the legislature and would create an absurd result. "Statutes should not be construed so as to lead to an absurd result." *Fraternal Ord. of Police v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 332 S.C. 496, 499, 506 S.E.2d 495, 496 (1998). By amending section 12-51-40 in 1995, the General Assembly clearly intended to have payments take place *before* the date of the tax sale. Generally, under Rule 6 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, holidays and weekends are not counted for computation of timeframes under South Carolina law, and the deadline would fall on the next business day. However, here, the deadline could not fall on the next business day because that was the date of the sale. Because the deadline for payment had to fall "before" the date of the sale, payment was required by the last business day before the sale. The Court's holding creates an absurd result because it either means that tax sales could not occur on a Monday or that the office must be open for payment on the Sunday before the tax sale. This is contrary to the intent of the legislature, which was to require payment prior to the sales date. *See In re Vincent J.*, 333 S.C. 233, 509 S.E.2d 261 (1998) (under the plain meaning rule, it is not the court's place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute).

The circuit court improperly based its decision on whether it believed a delinquent taxpayer should be able to pay taxes to redeem property on the day of the tax sale instead of the statutory language. Specifically, at the hearing on the motions for summary judgment, the circuit court asked: "[L]et's suppose I'm a taxpayer and I come in at 8:30 [a.m.] on November 7th, could I still save the property from being sold?" (ROA p. 127.) However, the proper question for the circuit court to consider was whether the Notice in this case complied with section 12-51-40(b), which

requires a county to notify the delinquent taxpayer that they must pay the delinquent taxes *before* the sales date. Here, the Notice did that. Thus, it complied with South Carolina law, and the circuit court erred in holding otherwise.

Recently, the South Carolina Attorney General’s Office analyzed whether a county must void a tax sale if it receives a check by mail after the tax sale if the mailing is postmarked with a date prior to the tax sale. *See* Opinion of the South Carolina Attorney General, 2025 WL 3101406, at *1 (Oct. 27, 2025). In the opinion, the Attorney General’s office discusses section 12-51-40(b) and the *Hawkins* case, explaining South Carolina law “requires payment of any taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs **prior to the sale date.**” *Id.* (emphasis added). In considering “whether mailing payment prior to the sale date satisfies the statutory requirement, even if the payment is not received by the county until after the sale,” the Attorney General opined: “The receipt of payment after a tax sale, even if postmarked prior to the sale likely does not constitute payment of the taxes, penalties, assessments, and costs sufficient to prevent or cancel the sale.” *Id.* The Attorney General noted the tax sale would not need to be cancelled in that instance because it was not a proper redemption and does not render the sale invalid. *Id.* The Attorney General concluded: “Assuming all the legal requirements for a tax sale are met, if a county delinquent tax collector sells a piece of real property at auction and subsequently receives payment for the unpaid taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs, it is not proper for the county delinquent tax collector to void the tax sale, even if the payment was received with U.S. mail and was postmarked prior to the tax sale.” *Id.*

This Attorney General opinion is instructive in the instant case. “While this Court is not bound by an opinion of our Attorney General, it should not be disregarded without cogent reason.” *Price v. Watt*, 280 S.C. 510, 514 n.1, 313 S.E.2d 58, 60 n.1 (Ct. App. 1984); *see also S.C. Dep’t of*

Soc. Servs. v. Johnson, 386 S.C. 426, 436, 688 S.E.2d 588, 593 (Ct. App. 2009) (finding Attorney General opinion’s discussion of statute “instructive”). Here, the Notice specified the date and time immediately prior to the tax sale that the county office would be open to accept payment—the Friday immediately preceding the Monday tax sale. As explained by the Attorney General’s Office, the payment must be received by the County prior to the tax sale under South Carolina law. Because the County’s office would not be open on Saturday or Sunday to receive a payment, South Carolina law required the County to specify the Friday prior to the tax sale as the statutorily mandated last date for payment. The Notice contained the proper date required by South Carolina law, not an artificial date. Thus, the circuit court erred in finding the proper date for the Notice was the day of the tax sale.

Accordingly, the circuit court’s order is contrary to South Carolina law and would create an absurd result. The Notice is in strict compliance with South Carolina law, and the Court should reverse the circuit court’s order setting aside the tax sale. *See In re Ryan Inv. Co., Inc.*, 335 S.C. 392, 395, 517 S.E.2d 692, 693 (1999) (“Tax sales must be conducted in strict compliance with statutory requirements.”)

II. The circuit court erred in denying Appellant’s motion for summary judgment because the tax sale complied with South Carolina law.

Because the Notice complied with South Carolina law, the circuit court erred in not granting Appellant’s motion for summary judgment. The evidence shows the County mailed delinquent tax notices to the “best address available.” The County mailed the first notice on March 16, 2022; the second notice on September 9, 2022; posted the Property on September 28, 2022; advertised the sale in the newspaper; and mailed the redemption notice by return receipt – restricted delivery to the best address available. (ROA p. 69.) There is no evidence the County failed to strictly comply with the notice statutes. Respondent did not present any evidence rebutting the

presumption that Appellant's title is good, that the title is defective, or the County failed to give the required notices that would invalidate the tax sale proceeding. *See* Section 12-51-90(C). Accordingly, the circuit court erred in denying Appellant's motion for summary judgment, and the Court should direct the circuit court to enter judgment in favor of Appellant, the fee simple owner of the Property, terminating any and all interests of Respondent and Defendant Odom named herein, and barring any future claims Respondent and Defendant Odom, their spouses, heirs, devisees, successors, assigns, and anyone or anything in the whole world claiming under them, irrespective of the nature of such claim, has in and to the Property.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed herein, Appellant respectfully requests the Court reverse and vacate the circuit court's orders setting aside the tax sale deed and direct the circuit court to grant Appellant's motion for summary judgment and confirm the tax sale.