RECEIVED

Apr 07 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM MARLBORO COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

**Milton G. Kimpson
Circuit Court Judge**

**Appellate Case No. 2025-001647
Marlboro County Case No. 2024-CP-34-00380**

Bobby Dean Odom, Respondent,

v.

**Dixie, LLC; Natasha M. Carr, Marlboro
County Delinquent Tax Collector; and
Edwin Harold Odom, III, Defendants,**

of which Dixie, LLC, is the Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**Jason Scott Luck
P.O. Box 47
Bennettsville, SC 29512
843.479.6863 (o)
843.479.7222 (f)
jason@luck.law**

Attorney for Respondent

COUNTER-STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I

Did the Circuit Court err in voiding a tax sale where the Notice of Levy set an artificial deadline and where the Redemption Notice was not mailed in strict compliance with the statute?

II

Is the denial of Appellant's motion for summary judgment properly before this Court?

COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the appeal of an order setting aside a tax sale deed. Around 2005, Respondent Bobby Dean Odom and Defendant Edwin Harold Odom, III, inherited vested remainder interests in property located at 4217 Redbud Road, McColl, South Carolina from their parents (the “Property”). (R 7, 46-47). Their father, Edwin Harold Odom, Jr., inherited a life estate in the property until he remarried. (R 7, 47). When Edwin Harold Odom, Jr., remarried in 2008, Bobby Dean Odom and Edwin Harold Odom, III, became owners of the Property. (R 7, 47). On September 12, 2012, the Odom brothers’ ownership was memorialized by deed. (R 6-7, 46-47).

The property taxes eventually fell into arrearage, and the Marlboro County Delinquent Tax Collector began the levy process under South Carolina’s tax sale statute. Of note to this appeal, the relevant Notice of Levy for this process stated the following: “Taxes must be paid...by 5:00 PM, November 04, 2022”. (R 49).

The Delinquent Tax Collector held a tax sale on November 7, 2022, where Appellant Dixie, LLC, was the successful bidder. (R 41-42). Of note to this appeal, on September 26, 2023, she issued a Redemption Notice, which was mailed certified mail (but not return receipt requested, restricted delivery) to the address of the defaulting taxpayer. (R 114-115).

Respondent Bobby Dean Odom brought this action on November 6, 2024, seeking to have the tax sale deed set aside and to impose a constructive trust upon the interest of Edwin Harold Odom, III. (R 14-17). Dixie, LLC, and the Marlboro County Delinquent Tax Collector duly answered the Complaint. (R 19-28). Edwin

Harold Odom, III, did not answer the Complaint and Judge Brian Gibbons entered default as to him on January 27, 2025. (R 1-2).

On February 17, 2025, Respondent Bobby Dean Odom moved for summary judgment on his cause of action to set aside the tax sale deed, alleging the relevant Notice of Levy created an artificial deadline. (R 46-57). Dixie, LLC, and the Marlboro County Delinquent Tax Collector filed responses and cross-motions for summary judgment requesting the court confirm the tax sale. Judge Milton Kimpson heard the motions and cross-motions for summary judgment on April 21, 2025. (R 116-135). On June 2, 2025, Judge Kimpson issued a Form 4 Order granting Bobby Dean Odom's motion for summary judgment and denying the remaining motions for summary judgment. (R 3-5). This order also requested Bobby Dean Odom's attorney prepare a formal order awarding summary judgment. (R 3-5). On June 12, 2025, Dixie, LLC, moved to alter or amend the June 2, 2025, Form 4 Order. (R 92-97). Bobby Dean Odom filed a return to this motion on June 16, 2025. (R 98).

On June 16, 2025, Judge Kimpson entered a formal order granting Bobby Dean Odom's motion for summary judgment and setting aside the tax sale deed for noncompliance with S.C. Code § 12-51-40(b) and specifically for the Notice of Levy's artificial deadline. (R 6-10). On June 25 & 26, 2025, the Marlboro County Delinquent Tax Collector and Dixie, LLC, moved to alter or amend the June 16, 2025, order. (R 99-107). On June 27, 2025, Bobby Dean Odom filed a return to these motions, specifically noting the motions contained new arguments not presented to the trial court. (R 108-110).

On the morning of July 23, 2025, Bobby Dean Odom filed a supplemental return, noting an additional defect in the Delinquent Tax Collector's file. (R 111-115). His attorney also emailed this return to Judge Kimpson, copying all counsel. (R 146). Judge Kimpson replied to the email, noting he had granted the motion and an order was in his queue for filing. (R 147-148). On July 28, 2025, Kimpson's order (dated July 13, 2025), was filed with the Marlboro County Clerk of Court. (R 11-13). This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In reviewing an order for summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.” *M & M Grp., Inc. v. Holmes*, 379 S.C. 468, 473, 666 S.E.2d 262, 264 (Ct. App. 2008). “Summary judgment is appropriate when ‘the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.’” *Id.* (quoting Rule 56(c), SCRCP); *see also Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 892 S.E.2d 297 (2023) (affirming that only a genuine issue of material fact will defeat a motion for summary judgment). A material issue is one that constitutes a legal defense or that affects the result of the action. *PPG Indus., Inc. v. Orangeburg Paint & Decorating Ctr.*, 297 S.C. 176, 375 S.E.2d 331 (Ct. App. 1988).

ARGUMENT

South Carolina's property tax laws bend over backwards to give taxpayers every conceivable opportunity to regain their property after tax sale. These protections exist to, *inter alia*, protect family property like that in this appeal from out-of-state land speculators like Respondent Dixie, LLC. *Accord Leysath v. Leysath*, 40 S.E.2d 233, 235, 209 S.C. 342, 348 (1946) (The statutory requirements governing tax sales are intended for the protection of the taxpayer against surprise or the sacrifice of his property.).

Dixie asks this Court to ignore over a century of precedent mandating strict construction of tax statutes and create a judicial exception to payment deadlines under these statutes. Such an exception subordinates the rights of taxpayers to the convenience of delinquent tax collectors, which is neither the law nor the public policy of this state. The trial court must be affirmed.

I. The Marlboro County Delinquent Tax Collector did not strictly comply with the relevant statute, and the tax sale deed was therefore properly voided.

It is well-settled that South Carolina tax sales must be conducted in strict compliance with statutory requirements. *E.g. Massenberg v. Clarendon Treasurer*, 443 S.C. 546, 552-553, 905 S.E.2d 399 (2024). The record reflects two separate errors that independently demand the avoidance of the tax sale deed at issue in this action:

A. The Notice of Levy created an illegal artificial deadline.

The first error in the tax sale process is contained within the Notice of Levy, which stated: "Taxes must be paid...by 5:00 PM, November 04, 2022". (R 49). This notice created a deadline for payment of November 4, 2022, and the Marlboro County

Delinquent Tax Collector admits this fact. (R 51). The sale for the Property took place on November 7, 2022. (R 41-42, 51). South Carolina law provides in relevant part: “All delinquent notices shall specify that if the taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs are not paid before a subsequent sales date, the property must be duly advertised and sold for delinquent property taxes, assessments, penalties, and costs.” S.C. Code § 12-51-40(b). It has been the well-settled law of this state for decades that this provision, and its prior version, prohibits a delinquent notice from setting a payment deadline different than that mandated by statute. *See, e.g., Hawkins v. Bruno Yacht Sales*, 353 S.C. 31, 577 S.E.2d 202 (2003);¹ Op. S.C. Atty. Gen., 2004 WL 439327 (Feb. 18, 2004); *Terry v. Brown*, Op. No. 2008-UP-413, 2008 WL 9844380 (S.C. Ct. App. July 21, 2008) (R 54-57); *see also Brown v. Gantt*, No. 2015-CP-32-00817, 2016 WL 11983118 (S.C.Com.Pl. Order dated June 15, 2016) (Master-in-Equity provides analysis regarding artificial deadlines, but refuses to set aside sale on other grounds); *Barfield v. The Corner Store*, Op. No. 2024-UP-208, 2024 WL 2839996 (S.C. Ct. App. June 5, 2024) (example of a notice deadline compliant with Section 12-51-40(b)).

While it is true that the two intervening days between November 4 and November 7, 2022, were a weekend, that fact is irrelevant to this case. Section 12-51-40(b) does not allow the Delinquent Tax Collector to set an earlier date for payment, nor does it allow for exceptions because the statutory deadline would be inconvenient

¹ While the remaining citations here are unreported and/or non-precedential, Respondent cites them both for the soundness of their reasoning and as reminder that *Hawkins* remains good law.

for the Delinquent Tax Collector. The plain language of the statute is clear and unambiguous, and the trial court did not err applying the law as it was written. *See Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) (“Where the statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.”). **It is the responsibility of the Delinquent Tax Collector to follow the law, not vice versa.**

The Master-in-Equity in *Brown* also took a very dim view of artificial deadlines:

This court takes notice of the tremendous administrative effort required to conduct a tax sale. Requiring payment by [the Friday before a Monday tax sale] would seem to be a great assistance to the County’s ability to conduct the tax sale without having to pull cases where payment has been tendered the day of the sale. While sympathetic this challenge, if the County can set an arbitrary date the Friday before the sale, why not a week or two or three weeks before the sale? Further, while not apples to apples, because of the volume and the defaulting taxpayer’s ability to redeem, the court does note that in foreclosure sales, cases are pulled up to and in some cases, during the sale, and a property owner has the right to tender full payment until the gavel falls. It would seem that a property owner would have at least the same rights in a government seizure of his property as he would in a contract based foreclosure of land or the repossession of a personal property.

These statutes contain no prohibition on the Tax Collector accepting delinquent tax payments up until the moment before the tax sale starts. Further, there appears to be court recognition that requires the greatest level of protection before the government takes property. *See Dickson v. Burckmyer*, 67 S.C. 526, 46 S.E. 343, 345 (1903) (“[A]ll requirements of the law leading up to tax sales which are intended for the protection of the taxpayer against surprise or the sacrifice of his property are to be regarded [as] mandatory and are to be strictly enforced.”); *Regions Bank v. Wingard Properties, Inc.*, 394 S.C. 241, 256, 715 S.E.2d 348, 356 (Ct. App. 2011) “A court of equity abhors forfeitures, and will not lend its aid to enforce them... [e]quity does not favor forfeitures or penalties and will relieve against them when practicable in the interest of justice.”).

While not making a specific ruling that a tax authority would have to take correct payment from a taxpayer or mortgage holder up to the final moment before sale, the Court finds this language in the notice especially worrisome when comparing this situation with a private taking pursuant to a contract or a mortgage foreclosure, in which a debtor has a right to pay off or satisfy the debt up to the moment of sale. *See also* S.C. Code Ann. § 36-9-623(c) ("A redemption may occur at any time before a secured party ...has disposed of collateral ...") (emphasis added). **Such action, merely for purposes of administrative convenience, would appear to afford a defaulting taxpayer less protection than a debtor would have in a claim and delivery for a couch or a mortgage foreclosure action.**

Brown, 2016 WL 11983118 at *5 (emphasis added).

1. The 2025 Attorney General Opinion cited by Dixie supports the Appellant's position.

The 2025 Attorney General Opinion cited by Dixie concerned whether a letter postmarked before a tax sale (and its enclosed payment) could be deemed received before the tax sale. Op. S.C. Atty. Gen. 2025 WL 3101406 (Oct. 27, 2025). This opinion did not find, or even imply, S.C. Code § 12-51-40(b) allowed a delinquent tax collector to set an artificial deadline for convenience. On the contrary, the Attorney General's citation of *Hawkins* as good law, applicable to the current version of Section 12-51-40(b), undercuts Dixie's argument that *Hawkins* is somehow limited or distinguishable. (App. Brief pp. 7-9).

2. Dixie's absurdity argument is not preserved.

Dixie's absurdity argument (App. Brief p. 9) is not preserved. Dixie's June 26, 2025, motion to alter or amend argued, for the first time, Odom's assertion of an artificial deadline is "absurd". (R 104-105). This argument was not previously before the trial court. *See Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 456, 392 S.E.2d 481, 482

(Ct.App.1990) (“A party cannot use Rule 59(e) to present to the court an issue the party could have raised prior to judgment but did not.”).

To the extent Dixie’s absurdity argument is preserved, it is misplaced. Grafting the Rules of Civil Procedure’s deadline provisions to Section 12-51-40(b) is not only inappropriate according to the rules, it is also a violation of the separation of powers in this state, which give the General Assembly sole power to legislate. *See* Rule 1, SCRCP (“These rules govern the procedure in all South Carolina courts...”) (emphasis added); S.C. Const. Art. I § 8 (separation of powers); S.C. Const. Art. III § 1 (legislative power vested in General Assembly). The true error in this matter lies with the Delinquent Tax Collector, who prepared a Notice of Levy that violated South Carolina law on its face, despite decades of jurisprudence prohibiting the use of artificial deadlines.

B. The redemption notice was not mailed in strict compliance with the statute.

As a second ground to set aside the Tax Sale Deed, the record² also reflects that the Redemption Notice for the Property was not mailed properly. South Carolina law states:

Neither more than forty-five days nor less than twenty days before the end of the redemption period for real estate sold for taxes, the person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes shall mail a notice by "certified mail, **return receipt requested-**

² This Court is empowered to “affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.” Rule 220(c), SCACR; *see also* Rule 208(b)(2), SCACR (Respondent may include additional sustaining grounds in brief.). The Redemption Notice was made part of the record by the filing of Bobby Dean Odom’s Supplemental Return to Defendants’ June 25, 2025, and June 26, 2025, Motions to Alter or Amend. (R 111-115).

restricted delivery" as provided in Section 12-51-40(b) to the defaulting taxpayer and to a grantee, mortgagee, or lessee of the property of record in the appropriate public records of the county. The notice must be mailed to the best address of the owner available to the person officially charged with the collection of delinquent taxes that the real property described on the notice has been sold for taxes and if not redeemed by paying taxes, assessments, penalties, costs, and interest at the applicable rate on the bid price in the total amount of ___ dollars on or before ___ (twelve months from date of sale) (date) _____, a tax title must be delivered to the successful purchaser at the tax sale. Pursuant to this chapter, the return of the certified mail "undelivered" is not grounds for a tax title to be withheld or be found defective and ordered set aside or canceled of record.

S.C. Code § 12-51-120 (emphasis added).

Relevant to this appeal, the Delinquent Tax Collector's file on this property shows that the Section 12-15-120 redemption notice was mailed certified, but neither a return receipt nor restricted delivery was requested. (R 114-115). This error serves as an additional sustaining ground to affirm.

II. The denial of Appellant's motion for summary judgment is not appealable.

Both Dixie, LLC, and the Delinquent Tax Collector moved for summary judgment on Bobby Dean Odom's first cause of action, effectively requesting the tax sale be declared valid. (R 58-91). Dixie has appealed the denial of its motion for summary judgment (App. Brief Arg. II), however, such an order is not appealable. In South Carolina, "it is well-settled that an order denying summary judgment is never reviewable on appeal." *Bank of N.Y. v. Sumter County*, 387 S.C. 147, 154, 691 S.E.2d 473, 477 (2010); *see also Ballenger v. Bowen*, 313 S.C. 476, 477, 443 S.E.2d 379, 380 (1994) ("A denial of a motion for summary judgment decides nothing about the merits of the case, but simply decides the case should proceed to trial."); *Holloman v.*

McAllister, 289 S.C. 183, 185-86, 345 S.E.2d 728, 729 (1986) ("Appellate review of orders denying motions for summary judgment could lead to an absurd result: one who has sustained his position after a full trial and a more complete presentation of the evidence might nevertheless find himself losing on appeal because he failed to prove his case fully at the time of the motion."). Accordingly, the Circuit Court's denial of Dixie, LLC's motion for summary judgment must be affirmed or its appeal should be dismissed.

CONCLUSION

The Circuit Court should be affirmed.